# FILED

#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DEC 13 1982

SID J. WHITE V GLERK SUPRAME GOUR

GARY TRAWICK,

CASE NO. 57,073

Willy)

Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT, GARY TRAWICK

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE ELEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR DADE COUNTY, FLORIDA

\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*\*

Louis M. Jepeway, Jr. JEPEWAY AND JEPEWAY, P.A. Attorney for Appellant 619 Dade Savings Building 101 East Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-2356

#

#### INTRODUCTION

The Appellant, Gary Trawick, was the Defendant in the Trial Court. He will be referred to as the Defendant. The Appellee, the State of Florida, was the Plaintiff in the Trial Court. It will be referred to as the State, and, when necessary, as the prosecutor and/or Assistant State Attorney.

References to the Record on Appeal will be designated by the symbol "R." References to the Transcript will be designated by the symbol "T."

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 19, 1979, an indictment was filed against the Defendant, Gary Trawick, and co-defendants, Eddie Miller, Anthony Johnson, and Roosevelt George (R.1-7A). On March 1, 1979, a superceding indictment was filed against the Defendant and the co-defendants (R.8-14A). This indictment charged the Defendant and the co-defendants with first degree murder (Count I), armed robbery (Count II), attempted first degree murder (Count III), attempted armed robbery (Count IV), attempted first degree murder (Count V), aggravated assault (Count VI), and possession of a firearm during the commission of felonies (Counts VII and VIII).

On March 6, 1979, the Defendant was adjudged insolvent and counsel was appointed to represent him (R.18). On March 8, 1979,

the Defendant entered pleas of not guilty to all charges (R.19).

On April 12, 1979, the Trial Court ordered a psychiatric evaluation of the Defendant (R.20). On April 12, 1979, the psychiatric report was submitted to the Trial Court (R. 38-42). The contents of the psychiatric report will be dealt with at length in the Argument portion of this brief.

On April 12, 1979, the Defendant filed a motion to suppress his confessions, admissions and statements (R.34-35). On April 26, 1979, a hearing was held on the Defendant's motion to suppress. The facts elicited at the hearing will be dealt with in the Argument portion of this brief.

#### THE GUILTY PLEAS

On May 8, 1979, the day of trial, the State announced that the Defendant had decided to plead guilty to all counts of the indictment (T.188-189). The Defendant's trial counsel stated that: "It was only this morning that the defendant finally made an affirmative and definitive decision." (T.196)(Emphasis Added). At the end of a brief and constitutionally deficient plea colloquy, the Defendant renounced his decision to plead guilty:

> "A. Well--No, I don't want to plead guilty. THE REPORTER: What was that, sir? THE DEFENDANT: No, I don't want to plead guilty. \* \* \* \* \*

Q. What is it that you don't want to

plead to?

A. I don't want to plead guilty.

Q. You don't want to plead at all? Do you want to go to trial on this case?

A. Yes, sir.

\* \* \* \* \*

THE COURT: We will take a lunch break, and then we will start picking a jury..." (T.201-202)

This hearing ended at 12:15 P.M. (T.214).

After the recess, the Defendant's trial counsel stated that the Defendant "just indicated to me" (T.203)(Emphasis Added) that he again had changed his mind and wanted to plead guilty (T.203). After conferring with the Assistant State Attorney (T.204), the Defendant's trial counsel announced that the Defendant would enter guilty pleas to Count I, first degree murder, Count II, robbery, Count IV, attempted robbery, and Count V, attempted first degree murder (T.205). The State would dismiss Count III, attempted first degree murder, Count IV, attempted robbery, Count VI, aggravated assault, Counts VII and VIII, possession of a firearm during the commission of felonies (T.204-205). The State also dismissed an unrelated robbery charge, Case No. 78-16124 (T.205).

The Trial Court then stated that: "...I don't believe that we need to go through the entire colloquy all over again." (T.205).

The State proffered a brief factual basis for the pleas (T.207).

The plea colloquy was very brief. The Defendant, who had never been convicted of a crime, (T.62), was twenty years old (T.209). He was entering guilty pleas to first degree murder, robbery, attempted robbery, and attempted first degree murder (T.209).

Then the following occurred:

"Q. Do you understand that there will be a second phase of this proceeding where a jury will hear certain facts and decide and recommend to the Court what penalty should be imposed, whether it is for the crime of manslaughter with a minimum of 15 years or death, and in the event that there is a recommendation of death, if the Court decides to follow the jury's recommendation, you will have a right to appeal that recommendation." (T.209) (Emphasis Added)

The Trial Court only informed the Defendant of the following rights:

"Do you understand that you have a right to proceed with the trial of this matter, to be represented by counsel throughout a trial, to confront the State's witnesses, to call witnesses in your own behalf, but by entering this plea you are giving up those rights?

Do you understant that?

A. Yes, sir.

Q. You also have the valuable right to remain silent and to leave the burden on the State to prove your guilt.

Do you understand that you also give up that right by entering into this plea?
A. Yes, sir.

The Trial Court asked the Defendant the standard questions about any problems he might have (T.212), whether he had had sufficient time to discuss the matter with his attorney, (T.213), and whether he was satisfied with the representation he had received (T.213), and received the standard answers (T.212; 213). The entire colloquy was very short (T.208-213). The Defendant gave no answer of more than two words. He used no word of more than one syllable.

Immediately after the Trial Court accepted the guilty pleas and adjudicated the Defendant guilty (T.213-214), the following remarkable event occurred:

'MR. McCRARY: During my interview with the defendant Trawick, after this morning's hearing which ended at approximately 12:15 I spoke to Mr. Trawick again, and Mr. Trawick had indicated to me at that time that he was very despondent about the proceedings that were taking place.

He had thought about the death penalty which could have been imposed on him and that he did not find it beyond his capability to take his own life.

I then notified the Court and have notified the Department of Correction (sic) of this statement so that whatever precautions can be taken will be taken and that in that light, I could not, in light of the many instances when these kind (sic) of remarks have been taken lightly, I do not take it as a light remark,

and hopefully it will not happen, but certainly we want to take whatever precautions are necessary." (T.214) (Emphasis Added)

The Trial Court then merely asked the State if it cared to respond (T.214). It did not (T.215). Then the Trial Court stated:

"I would add for the record though that I have observed him this morning and this afternoon, and he gives an appearance of being very collective in his thoughts, and that during the plea that was entered it appears to have been an intelligent one and not one made with the appearance of any emotional influence other than nervousness, of course, as he indicated." (T.215)

This portion of the proceedings ended in this bizarre fashion.

#### VOIR DIRE

During <u>voir</u> <u>dire</u> many potential veniremen and venirewomen improperly excused for cause in violation of <u>Witherspoon v. Illinois</u>, 391 U.S. 510 (1968) (T.229; 231-233; 236-237; 288; 291; 304; 315-316; 373-376; 380-383; 385-387).

The State consistently utilzed its peremptory challenges systematically to exclude all blacks (T.305; 306; 308; 354; 396) from the sentencing jury.

#### THE SENTENCING HEARING

The testimony, evidence, and occurrances at the sentencing hearing will be dealt with in some detail in the Argument portion of the brief. However, an overview at this juncture will be helpful to the Court.

Detective Timothy Martin of the Dade County Public Safety Department testified.

He was permitted to testify at great length and in gruesome detail about the heinous, atrocious, and cruel attempted murder of Linda Gray (T. 448-455). The State also introduced photographs, Exhibits 1-14 (R.61-74)(T.258), over the Defendant's objection (T.257).

After the incident involving Linda Gray at the Exxon service station at N.W. 7th Avenue and 103rd Street, the Defendant and codefendants drove North on N.W. 7th Avenue. They turned left at N.W. 7th Avenue and N.W. 119th Street, and drove West on N.W. 119th Street. After turning left, the Defendant shot three or four times at a wall and car near a Big Daddy's Lounge to scare some people outside (T.518). He shot the wall and car (T.518).

From there, they continued West on 119th Street (T.519). They turned North on N.W. 22nd Avenue and went to N.W. 135th Street and then turned left (West) again (T.519). There, they bought some gas (T.520).

From there, they drove to a U-Tote'M convenience store located at 2891 N.W. 135th Street in Opa Locka (T.460; 468). The Defendant and the co-defendant, Johnson, waited until the customers inside the store had left the area (T.469). They then went inside (T.469). The Defendant shot and killed the night manager, Robert Hayes (T.469).

After they left the store they saw a white car coming towards the light and the Defendant shot at him (T.526).

Detective Martin was permitted to testify that the word "Pig" was over the entrance to the door of the Defendant's residence (T. 471-472).

The detective took photographs from the Defendant's residence. He testified, erroneously, that the Defendant appeared in the photograph holding a submachine gun whose possession was illegal (T.473;

475). The Trial Court noted that it was not the Defendant (T.476).

The Defendant's statement was then read (T.500-536).

The detective testified that the Defendant showed no remorse (T.537).

The State called Sara Hayes, widow of the deceased. She was permitted to testify about the deceased's suffering, his personal background, her suffering, his condition in the hospital, and his recitation of what occurred (T.565-566).

The Medical Examiner was permitted to testify in gruesome detail about the deceased's injuries (T.568-572). He also testified about Linda Gray's injuries (T.572). He also testified that electrocution is painless (T.572-573).

The Defendant testified that he is twenty years old (T.576).

The Assistant State Attorney gave his closing argument, which was peppered with comments about non-statutory aggravating circumstances, aggravating circumstances not supported by the record, and other highly inflammatory and improper comments (T.586-603).

The Trial Court gave inadequate and constitutionally deficient instructions (T.613-619).

After deliberation, the jury recommended the death sentence (T.621).

The Trial Court immediately went to sentencing (T.622). The Defendant expressed his remorse (T.623). The Trial Court then entered his verbal "findings" (T.625-629), and sentenced the Defendant to death (T.628-629). The Trial Court found one mitigating circumstance, the Defendant's age, twenty (T.628). The Trial Court's written sentence was absolutely silent as to aggravating and mitigating circumstances (R. 60).

The Trial Court ignored mitigating evidence.

The Defendant's motion for new trial (R.110-111), was denied (R.111A).

The Trial Court ordered a <u>post</u> sentence investigation (R.43). This appeal followed (R.114).

#### POINTS ON APPEAL

Ι

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ACCEPTING THE DEFENDANT'S GUILTY PLEAS AND IN SENTENCING THE DEFENDANT BECAUSE THERE WAS A BONA FIDE DOUBT AS TO THE DEFENDANT'S COMPETENCE AND THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT MAKE ANY INQUIRY, MUCH LESS CONDUCT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING, ON THE QUESTION OF DEFENDANT'S COMPETENCE.

II

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ACCEPTING THE DEFENDANT'S GUILTY PLEAS BECAUSE THE PLEAS WERE NOT VOLUNTARILY AND INTELLIGENTLY ENTERED AND THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT AWARE OF THE CONSEQUENCES OF THE PLEAS.

III

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

IV

THE APPLICATION OF FLORIDA STATUTE 921.141, IMPOSING THE DEATH SENTENCE UPON THE DEFENDANT, VIOLATES THE SIXTH, EIGHTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES.

V

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN EXCLUDING FOR CAUSE THOSE VENIREMEN WHO WERE OPPOSED TO CAPITAL PUNISHMENT BUT WHO COULD NOT STATE UNAMBIGUOUSLY THAT THEY WOULD VOTE AGAINST IT REGARDLESS OF THE FACTS, THAT THEY WOULD BE UNWILLING TO CONSIDER ALL OF THE PENALTIES AVAILABLE, AND THAT THEY WERE IRREVOCABLY COMMITTED AGAINST AND WOULD AUTOMATICALLY VOTE AGAINST THE DEATH PENALTY.

VI

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN PERMITTING THE PROSECUTION SYSTEMATICALLY TO EXCLUDE PROSPECTIVE BLACK JURORS BY THE USE OF ITS PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES, WHICH DENIED THE DEFENDANT, A BLACK, THE EQUAL PROTECTION OF THE LAWS, AND DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

## ARGUMENT

I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ACCEPTING THE DEFENDANT'S GUILTY PLEAS AND IN SENTENCING THE DEFENDANT BECAUSE THERE WAS A BONA FIDE DOUBT AS TO THE DEFENDANT'S COMPETENCE AND THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT MAKE ANY INQUIRY, MUCH LESS CONDUCT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING, ON THE QUESTION OF DEFENDANT'S COMPETENCE.

It is apodictic that the State cannot proceed against a person accused of a crime while he is incompetent. Scott v. State,

So.2d \_\_\_\_\_, 1982 F.L.W. 451 (Fla. 9/30/82); Drope v. Missouri, 420

U.S. 162 (1975); Pate v. Robinson, 383 U.S. 375 (1966); Dusky v.

United States, 362 U.S. 402 (1960); Bishop v. United States, 350 U.S.

961 (1956); Jones v. State, 362 So.2d 1334 (Fla. 1978); Lane v. State,

388 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 1980); State v. Green, 395 So.2d 532 (Fla. 1981);

Fowler v. State, 255 So.2d 513 (Fla. 1971).

If a bona fide doubt of a defendant's competence to stand trial is raised, the trial court sua sponte must inquire into the defendant's competence. Rule 3.210(b), RCrP; 1/Pate v. Robinson, supra, Drope v.

Missouri, supra, Lane v. State, supra; State v. Green, supra; Lokos v.

Capps, 625 F.2d 1258, 1261-1262 (5th Cir. 1980); Lee v. State of Alabama, 386 F.2d 97 (5th Cir. 1967) (en banc); Acosta v. Turner, 666 F.

2d 949 (5th Cir. 1982). In Green this Court held that:

"...Competency is an extremely sensitive area of the criminal law which the United States Supreme Court and this Court have discussed at length. Drope v. Missouri... Lane v. State... The United States Supreme Court and this Court

<sup>1/</sup>Rule 3.210(b), RCrP, provides that:

<sup>&</sup>quot;If before or during the trial the court of its own motion, or upon motion of counsel for the defendant or for the State, has reasonable ground to believe that the defendant is not mentally competent to stand trial, the court shall immediately enter its order setting a time for a hearing to determine the defendant's mental condition..."

have made it clear that the trial judge has the responsibility of conducting an evidentiary hearing on the defendant's competency to stand trial whenever any reasonable indication of incompetency arises, whether or not trial counsel requests such a hearing..." (395 So.2d at 538)

In Lane, this Court held that:

"...the law is now clear that the trial court has the responsibility to conduct a hearing for competency to stand trial whenever it reasonably appears necessary, whether requested or not, to ensure that a defendant meets the standard of competency set forth in <u>Dusky</u>..." (388 So.2d at 1025)

It is also obligatory that the trial court fix a time for a competence hearing if there is a reasonable ground to believe that the defendant is not competent to stand trial Rule 3.210(b), RCrP;

Fowler v. State, supra, 255 So.2d at 514-515. It is not sufficient for a trial court merely to find that: "...the defendant is oriented to time and place and has some recollection of evidence." Dusky v. United States, supra, 362 U.S. at 402; Lane v. State, supra, 388 So.2d at 1025. Rather, before proceeding, the trial court must find, after an evidentiary hearing, that the defendant has a sufficient present ability to consult with his attorney with a reasonable degree of rational understanding and that he has a rational as well as a factual understanding of the proceedings against him. Dusky v. United States, Id.; Lane v. State, Id..

When a reasonable indication of incompetence arises, and the trial court does not conduct an evidentiary hearing to determine the defendant's competence to stand trial, the conviction must be reversed.

Scott v. State, supra, \_\_\_ So.2d at \_\_\_, 1982 F.L.W. at 452; Pate v.

Robinson, supra, 383 U.S. at 386-387; Drope v. Missouri, supra, 420

U.S. at 183; Dusky v. United States, supra, 362 U.S. at 403; Lane v.

State, supra, 388 So.2d at 1024-1026; State v. Green, supra, 395 U.S. at 538-539; Jones v. State, supra, 362 So.2d at 1336.

Of course, these principles apply equally to competence to enter a guilty plea. <u>Baker v. State</u>, 408 So.2d 686 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982); <u>Alleluio v. State</u>, 338 So.2d 1137 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976); <u>Osborne v. Thompson</u>, 610 F.2d 461 (6th Cir. 1979).

There is no litmus test to determine when an inquiry should be made. The United States Supreme Court held in  $\underline{\text{Drope}} \stackrel{2}{=}^{/}$  that:

"The import of our decision in Pate v.

Robinson is that evidence of a defendant's irrational behavior, his demeanor at trial, and any prior medical opinion on competence to stand trial are all relevant in determining whether further inquiry is required, but that even one of these factors standing alone may, in some circumstances, be sufficient. There are, of course, no fixed or immutable signs which invariably indicate the need for further inquiry to determine fitness to proceed; the question is often a difficult one in which a wide range of manifestations and subtle nuances are implicated

\* \* \* \*

Even when a defendant is competent at the commencement of his trial, a trial court must always be alert to circumstances suggesting a change that would render the accused unable to meet the standards of competence to stand trial." (420 U.S. at 180-181) (Emphasis Added)

Death is different. 3/ Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, 305 (1976) (opinion of Stewart, J.); Eddings v. Oklahoma, 50 U.S. L.W. 4161, 4165 (1982) (O'Connor, J., concurring). Accordingly, a trial court in a capital case must be particularly sensitive to any indication of incompetence. Here, the Trial Court was not.

Here, the Defendant's trial counsel informed the Trial Court that the Defendant desired to plead guilty. After a brief and woefully inadequate plea colloquy (T.208-213), the Defendant's trial counsel then informed the Trial Court:

This Court quoted this holding with approval in Lane v. State, supra, 388 So.2d at 1025.

\_3/ That this has become a cliche does not make it any less true or any less important. - 11 -

"During my interview with the defendant Trawick, after this morning's hearing which ended at approximately 12:15, I spoke to Mr. Trawick again, and Mr. Trawick had indicated to me at that time that he was very despondent about the proceedings that were taking place.

He had thought about the death penalty which could have been imposed on him and that he did not find it beyond his capability to take his own life. I then notified the Court and have notified the Department of Correction (sic) of this statement so that whatever precautions can be taken will be taken and that in that light, I could not, in light of the many instances when these kind (sic) of remarks have been taken lightly, I do not take it as a light remark, and hopefully it will not happen, but certainly we want to take whatever precautions are necessary."

4/ (T. 214) (Emphasis Added)

The red flag having been waved, the Trial Court then asked the assistant state attorney if the State cared to respond. It did not (T.214).  $\frac{5}{}$  The Trial Court's only reaction was:

"I would add for the record though that I have observed him this morning and this afternoon, and he gives an appearance of being very collective in his thoughts, and that during the plea that was entered, it appears to have been an intelligent one and not one made with the appearance of any emotional influence other than nervousness, of course, as he indicated." (T.215)

Manifestly, this mere observation, made without benefit of any examination, was inadequate. Lane v. State, supra, 388 So.2d

<sup>4/</sup> Defendant's trial counsel obviously recognized the Defendant's incompetence. However, because of his incompetence, he did not ask for an examination and a hearing. Nevertheless, his assessment of the Defendant's suicidal mental state, made by the one with "the closest contact with the defendant," Drope v. Missouri, supra, 420 U.S. at 162, n.13; Scott v. State, supra, So.2d at , 1982 F.L.W. at 452, was far more than sufficient to put the Trial Court on notice of the Defendant's incompetence.

<sup>5 /</sup> It is inconceivable that the assistant state attorneys did not recognize the difficulty. Yet, they did nothing. Thus, they betrayed their trust.

at 1205; <u>Dusky v. United States</u>, <u>supra</u>, 362 U.S. at 402. The Trial Court did not take the necessary steps. The Defendant was deprived of his due process right not to be tried while incompetent. <u>Scott v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, \_\_\_ So.2d at \_\_\_, 1982 F.L.W. at 452.

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