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

In <u>Williams v. State</u>, 396 So.2d 267 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981), defense counsel advised the court of the defendant's refusal to testify concerning the issue of self-defense despite his previous willingness to testify. Defense counsel requested a psychiatric evaluation. The defendant interrupted the trial demanding to be seen by a psychiatrist. The defendant advised his attorney that the defendant was hearing voices and was insane. The court held that a competency hearing

was not required because the evidence was not sufficient to raise a bona fide and reasonable doubt as to the defendant's competency.

In Bryant v. State, 373 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979), the defendant claimed that his plea of guilty was invalid because the trial judge failed to inquire as to the defendant's mental condition. The defendant was never adjudged incompetent or declared insane, although he had received psychiatric treatment prior to the offense, and was of a very low intelligence so as to be classified as a low moron or imbecile. In addition, the defendant had a mild degree of mental illness involving periodic psychotic episodes. Psychiatrists had determined that his mental condition did not impair his ability to know the difference between right and wrong or to understand and be capable of cooperating with counsel. The court held that although the proceeding was "rushed", it was sufficient.

In <u>State v. Tait</u>, 387 So.2d 338 (Fla. 1980), there was an issue as to the defendant's sanity at the time of the offense. That factor was not sufficient to raise a reasonable doubt as to the defendant's mental competence at trial. The court held that the trial court was not required to order a hearing of its on motion. <u>Compare</u>, <u>Scott v. State</u>, 420 So.2d 595 (Fla. 1982), where before trial a

competency hearing was requested, defense counsel stated that it was difficult communicating with the defendant and he was unable to assist counsel in the preparation of a defense, before sentencing a request for a competency hearing was made again, an agreement favorable to the defendant to waive the death penalty in exchange for a six man jury was personally overruled by the defendant, the trial court erroneous thought that there had been an evaluation and a determination of the defendant's competency, and the only doctor who had interviewed the defendant before trial ultimately opined that the defendant was not sane and competent.

In <u>Owens v. Sowders</u>, 661 F.2d 584 (6th Cir. 1981), defense counsel expressed doubts as to his client's competency and reported that the defendant mentioned suicide and complained of hallucinations to members of his family, to counsel, and to other inmates. In addition, the rape victim's testified as to the unusual behavior of the defendant while committing the crimes. The court held that those factors were not sufficient to require the trial court to initiate an inquiry into the defendant's competency.

In the instant case the defendant had been examined by a forsenic team and by a psychiatrist. Defense counsel, who was in the best position to evaluate the competency of the

defendant, never questioned the ability of the defendant to assist counsel in the preparation of the case. In addition, the trial court's observations of the defendant was consistent with the presumption that the defendant was competent. Apparently defense counsel mentioned the possibility of the defendant committing suicide simply to protect the defendant, not to challenge his competency. The mere fact, either standing alone or when considered in conjunction with the other facts of this case, that the defendant had contemplated suicide was not sufficient to mandate a competency hearing.

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN FINDING THE DEFENDANT'S PLEAS TO BE KNOWINGLY AND INTELLIGENTLY ENTERED WHERE THE DEFENDANT NEVER CHALLENGED THE KNOWING AND VOLUNTARY NATURE OF THE PLEAS.

The defendant challenges the knowing and voluntary nature of his guilty pleas. However, he never moved to withdraw his pleas. Although he has a right to review issues which occur contemporaneously with the entry of the pleas, an appeal from a guilty plea should never be a substitute for a motion to withdraw a plea. Robinson v. State, 373 So.2d 898, 902 (Fla. 1979). Because this issue has never been raised in the trial court, this court should decline to consider the merits. Should this court consider the merits, the conclusion to be reached is that the defendant's allegations are without merit.

The defendant claims that his pleas were involuntary because he was incompetent due to his "suicidal state." As discussed in Point I, if the record does not establish a bona fide reasonable doubt as to the defendant's competency, then the record is clearly insufficient to establish an actual showing of incompetency.

The defendant argues that because the trial court did not inform him of the elements of the crime, he was not aware of the nature of the crimes to which he was pleading. Defense counsel represented to the court that he counseled the defendant and talked to him at great length. (T. 195). Counsel recognized his responsibility to give the defendant the best possible advise. (T. 196). Discussions with the defendant concerning the entire matter occurred over a long period of time. (T. 196). The defendant admitted that he understood the nature of the proceeding. (T. 196). In fact, the defendant understood it so well that he initially decided not to plead guilty. (T. 201). Of course the defendant ultimately decided to plead guilty when the State made a better offer. From those facts we may infer that the defendant understood what he was doing.

In addition, a proffer of the facts was made so that the defendant could hear it. (T. 190). He stated that he was pleading guilty because he was guilty. (T. 211). Therefore, if the proffer was sufficient in that it contained all the elements of the crime, and the defendant admitted committing those acts, then the defendant admitted that he committed all the elements of the crime.

The defendant complains that he was not aware of the defenses that were available to him. The cases which the

defendant relies on only require a specific waiver of a defense when such is asserted at the time of the plea. See, for example Williams v. State, 316 So.2d 267 (Fla. 1975). In the instant case the defendant never protested his innocence during the plea colloquy. Therefore there was no need to specifically waive any defense.

The defendant argues that he did not know he was waiving his right to trial by jury. The first time the defendant pled guilty he was informed that he was waiving his right to trial by jury. (T. 197). The defendant has not even suggested any reasonable explanation why he claims he was not aware of it two hours later during the second plea colloquy.

The defendant complains that he was not informed that he was waiving his right to appeal. The defendant was informed numerous times during both plea colloquy's that he was waiving his right to appeal the judgments. (T. 199, 209, 212). Therefore this contention is clearly belied by the record.

The defendant complains that he was ignorant of the maximum possible penalties of the crimes he was pleading

guilty to, except for the charge of first degree murder. Defense counsel specifically stated that the defendant had been informed of the possible penalties if he entered a guilty plea. (T. 195). Defense counsel informed the defendant of all the consequences attendent to the plea. (T. 196). Therefore the record refutes the defendant's contention that he was unaware of the possible penalties he would receive.

The defendant complains that he did not understand the proceedings because of his youth. The mere fact that a person is twenty years old does not render a guilty plea involuntary.

The defendant complains that part of the plea agreement was that the prosecution would not use the unrelated robbery charge against him. The record shows that the agreement was that the State would dismiss the charge. (T. 205). There was no agreement concerning whether the fact that he had been charged would be stricken from everyone's memory. In fact, there was an express understanding that other charges which were dismissed against the defendant would be considered against him because they were a part of the entire transaction. (T. 206). The deal was that the unrelated robbery charge would be dismissed. The agreement was kept.

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS HIS CONFESSION.

The defendant is not entitled to review of the denial of the motion to suppress his confession because he pleaded guilty. A plea of guilty severs any right to an appeal from court rulings that preceded the plea in the criminal process including independent claims relating to deprivations of constitutional rights that occur prior to the entry of the guilty plea. Tollett v. Henderson, 411 U.S. 258, 267, 93 S.Ct. 1602, 1608, 36 L.Ed.2d 235 (1973); Robinson v. State, 373 So.2d 898, 902 (Fla. 1979).

Secondly, defense counsel made no objection to the admission of the confession into evidence at the sentencing hearing. (T. 482). Therefore, even if he has a right to raise this issue, he has waived that right. Fraterrigo v. State, 10 So.2d 361 (Fla. 1942); Bowles v. State, 414 So.2d 236 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982).

At the hearing on the motion to suppress, Detective Tim Martin testified that he went to the defendant's residence to follow up a lead concerning the investigation. (T. 87). He met the defendant's sister at the front door. (T. 87). As the conversation terminated, the officer observed

Detective Singleton running north towards the backyard. (T. 88). Two officers followed. (T. 88). They saw Detective Singleton detain the defendant by the fence at the back of the yard. (T. 88).

The defendant was handcuffed to avoid further flight. (T. 89). The defendant was read his rights. (T. 89). He waived his rights. (T. 90).

The defendant admitted that he was involved in the homicide along with three other people. (T. 90). After he admitted his involvement, he was placed under arrest. (T. 91). The defendant advised the police of the location of a rifle which was used in the homicide. (T. 92).

The defendant was advised of his rights again once they arrived at the police station. (T. 93). He read, signed, and initialed a constitutional rights warning interrogation form. (T. 94-96). The defendant gave a formal statement which was transcribed. (T. 97). The defendant signed the confession. (T. 97).

The police officers first went to speak with the defendant because there was a tentative identification made by one of the victims. (T. 114). Ballistics comparison tests tied all three incidents together. (T. 116).

When the defendant was initially apprehended he was not under arrest, he was merely being detained. (T. 122). His attempt to flee added suspicion. (T. 123).

The trial court made a finding that the testimony was clear and convincing and that the statement of the defendant was voluntary, intelligent, and free from duress. (T. 173). The motion to suppress was denied. (T. 173).

The defendant argues that the confession should have been suppressed because it resulted from a warrantless arrest in the home. See, Payton v. New York, 445 U.S. 573, 100 S.Ct. 1371, 63 L.Ed.2d 639 (1980); State v. Rickard, 420 So.2d 303 (Fla. 1982). This was not a ground which was raised below as part of the motion to suppress. Therefore it may not be reviewed. Steinhorst v. State, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982).

Should this court reach the issue, it is clear for several reasons that <u>Payton</u> does not apply. First of all, there is no need for a warrant when there are exigent circumstances.

In the instant case the defendant was just about to leave the backyard of the residence when he was apprehended.

(T. 88). If the police had allowed the defendant to leave the property surrounding the residence, they might not have been able to apprehend him. Because of the exigent circumstances, there was no need for a warrant.

Secondly, there was no causal connection between an arrest in the home and the confessed. There was no showing that the defendant confessioned only because he was arrested at his residence. Since there is no causal connection between a warrantless arrest in the home and a confession, the exclusionary rule does not apply. State v. Thomas, 405 So.2d 462, 463 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981). As long as there was probably cause to arrest, custodial interrogation was proper. See, Dunaway v. New York, 442 U.S. 200, 99 S.Ct. 2248, 60 L.Ed.2d 824 (1979).

The defendant also complains that there was custodial interrogation without probable cause. The police officers wanted to investigate the defendant because he left his hat at the scene of the crime and there was a tentative identification made by one of the victims. (T. 114). Before they could speak with the defendant, the defendant took flight. (T. 87, 88).

Even though the police officers testified that they were temporarily detaining the defendant, the State submits

that there was probable cause to arrest at that point. Even if they only had an articulable suspicion that the defendant was involved in the crimes, the level of suspicion clearly met the probable cause standard once the defendant started to flee.

Even if the police only had an articulable suspicion sufficient to temporarily detain the defendant, the incriminating statements made by the defendant during that preformal arrest would be admissible, either because a limited interrogation of the defendant is permissible as part of a temporary detention, Section 901.151(2)(4), Fla.Stat. (1979); Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968); Young v. State, 234 So.2d 341 (Fla. 1970); Cockerham v. State, 237 So.2d 32 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970); James v. State, 223 So.2d 52 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969), or because the statement was volunteered.

While the defendant was being temporarily detained, the police officer merely recited the background of the case under investigation when the defendant spontaneously made the unsolicited incriminating statements. (T. 90). Therefore the statements were not given in response to custodial interrogation, hence there was no Fourth or Fifth Amendment violation. Once the defendant made his incriminating statements, there was probable cause to arrest so that the formal statement given at the police station did not violate the mandate of Dunaway v. New York, supra.

The defendant also complains that the confession should have been suppressed because the defendant was detained without a prompt judicial determination of probable cause. The failure to have a prompt judicial determination of probable cause does not call for suppress unless the delay in itself resulted in the confession, and it should not be presumed that such was the case. Barton v. State, 193 So.2d 618 (Fla. 2d DCA 1966); Romanello v. State, 160 So.2d 529 (Fla. 1st DCA 1964). Thus, when it can be demonstrated that a defendant was advised of his rights, and the confession was voluntary and not induced by the delay, the confession is admissible. Headrick v. State, 366 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978).

Finally the defendant argues that the Miranda warnings were not sufficient, but fails to specifically allege how they were deficient. The record belies the defendant's contention. (T. 93-97). This court should interpret the evidence and all reasonable inferences and deductions in a manner most favorable to sustain the trial court's ruling.

McNamara v. State, 357 So.2d 410, 412 (Fla. 1978).

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN IM-POSING THE DEATH SENTENCE BASED ON A PROPER WEIGHING OF AGGRAVATING AND MITIGATING CIRCUMSTANCES.

The defendant argues that the trial court erred by not making written findings. The trial court read his findings into the record. It was transcribed. The procedure used by the trial court was sufficient to satisfy the requirement that his findings be in writing. Thompson v. State, 328 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1976).

The defendant argues that the prosecutor relied on non-statutory aggravating factors, thereby tainting the jury's recommendation of death. At trial, defense counsel did not consider the evidence nor the arguments objectionable, he did not ask for curative or cautionary instructions, and did not move for a mistrial on any of the grounds now being raised on appeal. Therefore the issues being raised regarding the prosecutor's arguments are not preserved for review. Ferguson v. State, 417 So.2d 639, 641 (Fla. 1982) and Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978). Assuming arguendo this Court reviews the merits, the State would submit the defendant is not entitled to relief.

The defendant argues that evidence as to lack of remorse should not have been admitted, should not have been argued by the prosecutor, and should not have been

considered by the trial court in its findings. Lack of remorse is a factual which is relevant to determine whether the crime was heinous, atrocious or cruel. Sireci v. State, 399 So.2d 964 (Fla. 1981); Hargrave v. State, 366 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1978).

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